
Regular & Work Session Meeting Minutes - April 19, 2010

Page 1

The regular meeting of the Township Council of the Township of Lower, County of Cape May, State of New Jersey
was held on April 19,  2010 at 7:00 p.m. in the meeting room of the Township Hall, 2600 Bayshore Road, Villas, New
Jersey.

The Clerk announced that the meeting was being held in compliance with the Open Public Meetings Act and that
adequate notice of the meeting had been provided according to law.

The following members of Council were present for roll call taken by the Clerk:

Councilmember Thomas Conrad
Councilmember Wayne Mazurek
Councilmember Glenn Douglass

Deputy Mayor Kevin Lare
Mayor Michael Beck

Also present: Anthony Monzo, Solicitor, and Kathleen McPherson, Manager

WORK SESSION

Budget Workshop Session
Mayor Beck said Leon Costello would explain the budget and where the Township was.  That would be
followed by Council comments and public input.
Leon Costello said he would review the budget and what was happening in the State.  He said the tax levy
was increasing within the CAP and the Township was $536,000 to the good.  He said the proposed tax
rate was 9.2 but that was due to the de-valuation.  He said the past two budgets showed the salary and
wage increased at 1.72% and in looking back at 2009 the same increase was 3.9%.  He reviewed
increases in salaries back to 2007.  He stated there were three consecutive decreases over the years and
that was being seen all over the State.  He said it was a positive thing on the budget not replacing retiring
employees, but one thing that hurt everyone was the pensions.  
Mr. Costello showed a chart of the pension increases over the years and explained why.  He said a lot of
different factors had cause the pension costs to rise.  He said the reason for the increase was the pension
lagged two years behind which meant you didn �t get any benefit of reducing salaries for two years.  He
explained how the calculation worked for pensions.  He said the Township should start to see relief in 2011
- 2014.  He said pension costs were untouchable in the budget.   He said with all the retirements that would
happen in New Jersey this year forced or voluntary it would drive the pension fund into more of a bind.   
He said the Township was lucky they were separate from the State.   The two pension systems the
Township was in were the most funded.  He said the State was putting nothing in the pension system.  He
said the salary increase was 1.72%, the pension increase for Police & Fire went from $682,000 to
$705,000 and $139,000 was outside the CAP .  He said there was roughly a $140,000 increase in PERS.  
Mr. Costello said they were numbers that couldn �t change, they were obligations.  He said the debt service



Regular & Work Session Meeting Minutes - April 19, 2010

Page 2

was around $2 million that also couldn �t be changed.  
Mr. Costello reviewed the fund balance.  He said the two significant things that enabled the Township to
return to the prior fund balance was the Grande and the deferred school taxes.  He said they were one
timers and anytime there was a reval or de-val and appeals were filed that came out of the Township �s
money.  He said appeals were a dollar for dollar amount to the Township.   He said it was an at risk thing
with the appeals of not knowing how many were filed for this year.  
Mr. Costello went over how the economy was,  he said the Township wasn �t making any money on interest
and that had hurt.  He said the Governor had proposed a 2 1/2%  CAP on the local purpose tax and a hard
CAP no exceptions.  It had been suggested to go to vote in November and if approved it would affect the
2012 budget.  He said the surplus was a major issue.  He said the collection dropped a little but the
unknown was the amount of appeals that may have been filed.  He said it was going to be hard to make
back the 1.9 million surplus used.  He said no municipalities were generating surplus.  He said the local
revenue fell $138,000.00 and lost $80,000 on interest not collected.  He said the Township lost a lot in
State Aid this year and could possibly loose almost $400,000 next  year.
Mr. Costello said the Governor meant business and that meant problems for municipalities and schools. 
He said they wouldn �t know the final number of State Aid for the Township until the Governor signed the
budget which had to be done by June 30th.   He said going forward they had to take care of the fund
balance that was the lifeline for the Township.  He explained the budget process and how some things had
changed.  He said now you could not raise taxes more than the CAP law said.  He again said no matter
what anyone said the only way to change the budget was to change the number of employees and fixed
costs were fixed costs that couldn �t change.  He said the Township had been working to control costs by
not replacing people who retired.  He said the pension rate for public employees was 8.97%  and the police
rate was 25.97% and that was what the Township paid into the pension fund.  He said if it wasn �t for the
pension they would have been in pretty good shape or better shape.  He said the debt service didn �t look
bad and they had controlled their Capital spending which was good for the taxpayers.
Mayor Beck asked about the schools surplus aid reduction.
Mr. Costello said the schools were set up differently and had been under a surplus CAP for years.  He said
they could not keep more than 2% of their surplus so they created different reserves and would transfer it
around and then became part of the surplus.  The Governor saw all the reserve the schools had and told
the schools to use their own money.  He stated all school  financial records looked the same and had a
standard chart of accounts.  
Mr. Costello explained why the amount of cuts were different for each municipality.  
Councilmember Mazurek said if the Township reduced it �s surplus and if there was a problem next year the
only way to make it up would be to cut employees.
Mr. Costell said the State Health Benefit Plan was held at a 4% increase during the former Governor �s
years.  As soon as the election was over it jumped to an 18% increase and the Township can count on an
18% - 20% increase for the next couple years.  
Mayor Beck asked about the tool kit.
Mr. Costello said there wasn �t much in there yet and it was slow to develop.  He said the one thing from the
tool kit was the pension reform.  He said the new rules were causing people to retire and not replacing
them was a benefit to the Township.  He said when the 2 1/2% CAP came in it would be a nightmare to 



Regular & Work Session Meeting Minutes - April 19, 2010

Page 3

manage the budget.   
Deputy Mayor Lare said it had been his understanding and he confirmed it with one of the Assemblymen
that the Governor �s expectation was that the amount that he cut the municipalities in aid he expected the
municipalities to reduce their surplus by that amount and if not he would reduce the aid by that amount in
2011.
Mr. Costello said he disagreed, the Governor couldn �t reduce the aid below a certain level.
Deputy Mayor Lare asked what was a surplus and felt it was an over tax to the people.
Mr. Costello said he disagreed completely. 
Mayor Beck asked what went in the fund balance.
Mr. Costello said the Township received $300,000 plus from the Grande coming on the tax rolls and that
wouldn �t be repeated.  
A brief discussion ensued on how the fund balance worked.
Mr. Costello said in 2010 they were using 1.9 million, in 2011 if that number wasn �t the same or greater,
the Township had a big problem.   He said if they didn �t have that revenue to start off the budget with they
couldn �t raise it in taxes they would have to do something with the number of people they employed.  He
went over the numbers and said there wasn �t a lot out there to generate revenue.  He said by not spending
money it went back into the fund balance.
Mr. Costello said the fund balance components were made up of excess revenue above what was
anticipated, not spending and money that came in that wasn �t expected.  
Mayor Beck said the Manager would give a brief rundown of what the Township did last year.
Manager McPherson said six positions were eliminated through attrition, three from the Police Department
and one each from Public Works, Construction Office and Recreation Department.  She said she received
recommendations from Mayor Beck and Councilmember Mazurek and there would be five positions
eliminated this year.   She said three were currently vacant and one was in the Police Department and two
in public works.  She went over some of the other changes being made and redistributing various duties.   
Manager McPherson said there were also adjustments in the budget for the landfill tipping fees, FICA due
to personnel changes and the reserve for uncollected taxes.  She said Mayor Beck and Councilmember
Mazurek also asked to reduce the overtime by 20%.    She said Deputy Mayor Lare had given an analysis 
to them which some of the things on his list were similar to the Mayor and Councilmember Mazurek �s list. 
She said Councilmember Conrad recommended to continue to bid out the concession stand.  She
mentioned savings on changing to State Health Benefits, renegotiated risk management fees, cell phones
and renegotiating the fuel costs.  
Manager McPherson went over Deputy Mayor Lare �s list such as eliminate the NPP stipend, retirement in
Treasurer �s Office, eliminate promotions.  Reduce overtime in Public Works by $100,000.00 and Public
Safety by $127,000.00, cut Mayor and Council OE by $3,000.00.
Mayor Beck asked Deputy Mayor Lare what he meant by Public Safety no replacement.
Deputy Mayor Lare said the person that was retiring in August.
Manager McPherson said there was a current vacancy.
Deputy Mayor Lare said not replacing both  the current vacancy and the second officer when left.  He said
the budget currently funded 43 officers his proposal was to fund 41.  He said to take the Mayor & Council
OE to what it was last year and reduce salaries by 1.75% as they were asking the employees to take.



Regular & Work Session Meeting Minutes - April 19, 2010

Page 4

Manager McPherson said there were some concerns about under budgeting some departments and said
there wasn �t much to transfer in November.
Deputy Mayor Lare said to spend what they had.
A discussion on the overtime at DPW.
Manager McPherson said there were some expenses incurred with the storm. 
Deputy Mayor Lare said there was supposed to be a Presidential Declaration and FEMA was going to
reimburse the Township for that.
Manager McPherson was told by FEMA they would only reimburse the Township for one 48 hour period.   
Deputy Mayor Lare asked when was Council going to be told about that, it was the first he heard about it.
Mayor Beck said it was breaking news.  He said until FEMA told them Council wouldn �t know what they
were covering.  
A discussion on reducing the overtime in DPW and Deputy Mayor Lare said he was giving them three
people on the street that they didn �t have now.  
Mayor Beck asked what would happen if there was another storm.
Deputy Mayor Lare referred to flex time.  He said the County hadn �t issued overtime in five years.
Mayor Beck said some of Deputy Mayor Lares ideas overlapped with what he and Councilmember
Mazurek had.
Deputy Mayor Lare said his goal was to get to zero without laying anyone off.  He said his proposal did
that.  He said he was fine with using the Mayors proposal as well.
Mayor Beck said he didn �t think they could take away $100,000.00 overtime from DPW.  He said that
meant they would go to zero overtime.
Deputy Mayor Lare said they would be getting three more people.
Councilmember Douglass said he didn �t think that could be done with incidentals and emergencies.
Mayor Beck asked about the Police overtime that was budgeted.
Manager McPherson said it was $228,250.00.  She said last year they spent $233,000.00.
Mayor Beck said they ran into situations such as court time.  He felt there needed to be a strict policy
regarding overtime.  
Councilmember Mazurek said if they reduced the overtime and later in the year they needed to use
overtime could that come from the surplus.
Mr. Costello said it could be done through an emergency.
Chief Donohue didn �t see how the Township could have it both ways.  He said he was cut five officer and
now cut the overtime.  
Mayor Beck said the number of officer on the streets were the same, administration had been cut.  
Chief Donohue said he had been juggling men and had to pull a detective.   He said he may have to pull
the school resource officers out of school the way things were going.
Mayor Beck said they needed to talk about a more stringent overtime policy.
Gary Douglass of DPW said he didn �t know if all the overtime could be eliminated.  He said he wasn �t going
to pick sides.  He said they had added services and the manpower wasn �t increasing.  He said if they were
going to eliminate manpower, then services had to be eliminated somewhere down the line.  He stated
there were things that weren �t getting done now.  He said he had taken cuts over the years and didn �t know
how much more they could cut without affecting service.



Regular & Work Session Meeting Minutes - April 19, 2010

Page 5

Deputy Mayor Lare said everyone had to sacrifice that included the residents and employees.  He they 
wasn �t easy decisions.  He said if they could communicate more effectively with the residents things might
work.  He said the Township had no money.
Mayor Beck stated everyone was in favor of a zero increase but they had to be realistic as to what could
be done.
Councilmember Conrad said there may be things the Township couldn �t do.
Councilmember Mazurek discussed Deputy Mayor Lares proposed 10% cut in OE budgets and asked
where that would put them.    
Manager McPherson said that would get them to about $510,000.00 cut.
Mayor Beck said with some of the cuts it may be down to 1.3 cents.  Mayor Beck said he didn �t have a
problem with looking at the overtime but needed to leave in there what they needed to do.  He said Deputy
Mayor Lare �s proposal was to eliminate most of Public Works overtime and supply them with more bodies.  
A brief discussion on the different proposals from Council regarding overtime.
Mayor Beck said he would like to cut 20% from the total overtime and let the Manager be the arbiter.    He
said maybe increase that to 25%.  They discussed the various departments with overtime.
Council agreed to reduce the overtime by 25%.   
Mayor Beck said they were at $540,000.00 in cuts and Mr. Costello said they were half way to the tax cut.
Manager McPherson asked if they had a consensus on the personnel changes.
Deputy Mayor Lare asked what cuts she was referring to.
Manager McPherson said it was the two positions in the Police Department he had recommended.  
Mayor Beck said he wanted to hear from Council on that.
Councilmember Conrad said he wasn �t happy with it and didn �t know if he could go with that now, he would
take a look at it.
Councilmember Mazurek said he was alright with it.
Councilmember Douglass said he agreed with Tom, he was good with one not two.  He said if they kept
bring it down it would affect public safety.
Mayor Beck said he agreed with the cut.
Mayor Beck said as far as the fees as soon as the hearings are over they would take a look them.

Mayor Beck opened the meeting for public comment.

Mayor Beck said they were listening for any valid ideas.
Charles E. Schlager, Jr.  Rep. for PBA Local 59 & Bob Hartman, Jr. Lower Twp. PBA representative 
mentioned the overtime figures for the police.  He said the PBA  were in a position to tell the Council and
residents that the PBA would forego overtime for the remainder of 2010 and use comp time which would
be set up as unpaid and be used as to not cause additional overtime and no payment.
Deputy Mayor Lare wanted to hear from the Chief how he would work that out.
Chief Donohue said they would mark their card comp time.
Councilmember Mazurek said Mr. Schlager said it would be comp time they had to use.
Mr. Schlager said they would take it purely as time earned in 2010 not to be turn in for cash.
Deputy Mayor Lare asked the Chief if he could operate the department with that policy.



Regular & Work Session Meeting Minutes - April 19, 2010

Page 6

Manager McPherson questioned it would never be turned into cash.
Mr. Schlager said that was correct for 2010.
Chief Donohue said it could be done.
Mayor Beck said it would be from this time forward.
Jack Sparks of North Cape May congratulated the Police Department and said he had put stories in the
paper about the police not being exactly all for the public in the past.  He said what they had done was
admirable.  He stated the fire department and school K-6 had a zero increase in their budget. He stated
the Superintendent had the unions take a decrease in their increase.  He said the Regional School was
almost at zero.
Christopher Kobik asked which Assemblyman Deputy Mayor Lare spoke to about the pension issues.
Deputy Mayor Lare said Milam.
Mr. Kobik said he had been thinking of attending a Township meeting for months.  He said he wanted to
thank the Public Works Department and the Police Department for services he and his family had received. 
Susan Bailey of Erma said she heard rumors that the 4th of July Celebration was moving forward and the
Township was holding a Farmers Market and purchased a new time clock.  She asked where the funds
were coming from.  
Manager McPherson said it was budgeted  in  �special events. �
Ms.Bailey suggested issuing a couple more liquor licenses to increase revenue for the Township.
Mayor Beck said that couldn �t be done and the Clerk added it was done by population.  She said to charge
a fee for the recycling center.
Manager McPherson said no one would use the center.  She said the time clock worked in conjunction with
the payroll department.
Fred Long of Cold Spring said he would like to revisit the reserve for uncollected taxes he understood that
was computed on a assumed percentage.  
Mr. Costello said that was correct.
A discussion ensued on changing the percentage rate used for the uncollected taxes and using 96.8% as
a figure.
Mr. Long said the difference in what was spent and what was budgeted came to almost 1 million dollars.  
He said between 2002 and now,  the average of the  excess of each year was around 2 million.  He said
he would be comfortable if they used $100,000 out of the surplus.  He said he would leave that with
Council as a potential way to get the other half.
Joe Kremp of 11 W. Jacksonville Avenue said they didn �t want to get rid of any of the Police Department. 
He said they didn �t have to spend a lot of money on overtime just get the foreman out on the road to check
and see how long it took to do the job.  He said to use the leaf vac instead of all those men to collect
leaves.  He suggested DPW be opened all day unattended on the weekend and let people dump their
items and have the police lock up at night.
Gary Douglass, DPW said the leaf vac was much slower than the dumpster with three men.
Walter Miller of Main Street said his neighbor had cut up his trees and the pile was  60ft. long.  He said it
took those men so long to do the job and they took coffee breaks in between.  He said the guys didn �t
hustle anymore.  
Mr. Douglass said people were painting a bad picture of the public works.  He said they did a swell job and



Regular & Work Session Meeting Minutes - April 19, 2010

Page 7

if there were other ways and the residents could pick them up it would save him time.
Ed Butler of 7 Delaware Bay Dr. thanked Council for trying to help the taxpayers.  He said in 2008 when
the contracts were voted on it cost the Township.  He asked Councilmember Douglass if he had any
recommendation that might help.
Councilmember Douglass said arbitrators made decisions that had a lot to do with what went on.  He said
that needed to be reformed at the State level.   He said they had to look into future contracts.
Mr. Butler asked Councilmember Douglass if he agreed with shared services.  
Councilmember Douglass said he agreed with shared services however, some of the shared services
wouldn �t be affective in the Township �s program.
Councilmember Conrad said two of the contract were supposed to be signed before the election.  He said
the Police were headed towards binding arbitration and felt it would have been over 4%.   He said they
negotiated in good faith and it should have been signed before the election.
Mayor Beck said he appreciated the Police Departments offer.
Janet Pitts of the Lower Township Taxpayers Association suggested the Township go to maximum on the
liquor license fees.  She suggested automatic reviews each year of the fees.  She was asking for the
application of N.J.S.A.40A:5A-12.1 to the extent there was an undesignated fund balance of the MUA. 
She said the Township could request up to 5% to be used in the budget.  She stated the MUA had a fund
balance of slightly over 10 million.  
Mayor Beck said he wasn �t sure how Council felt about asking the MUA for $500,000.00.
Mr. Costello said the form was on the MUA budget and had to be requested by the Township and the MUA
had to approve it.  He said some of that was reserved for debt service and that couldn �t be taken.
Frank Majane of Erma said he heard a lot of figures pulled out of the air.  He said then when an emergency
came up people want to use surplus and then you get hit with a tax rate of  6, 7 or 8 cents.  He said Mr.
Costello was a professional and they needed to listen to him.  He said just a little information for everyone, 
Lower Township had the 6th lowest taxes in the three County area.
Joe Winters said he would like to see all the fees adjusted.  He felt the campgrounds and boat slips could
be raised.
Mayor Beck said all the fees would be reviewed.
Bob Rizzo thank the Mayor and Council for having the open meeting he now had a better understanding of
the budget.
Mayor Beck asked where the Township stood now with cutting the overtime.
Mr. Costello said if they change a line item more than 10% the budget couldn �t be adopted that night it had
to be advertised and then hold another hearing then adoption.
Mayor Beck closed public portion.

Review of Consent and Regular Agenda Items

Councilmember Conrad asked about Resolution #115 he felt it wasn �t worded strong enough.  He said he would like
 the pumps fixed.  He also would like them to look into alternate energy sources, lower the water level in the winter 
and do a study of the water level now.
Mayor Beck said the resolution was generated from the last meeting with Mr. McCloy and Mr. Jackson.  He said  
Councilmember Conrad could sit with them and redo the resolution .



Regular & Work Session Meeting Minutes - April 19, 2010

Page 8

Mr. McCloy said he would like some changes to the resolution.
Mayor Beck suggested to table the resolution until they met and made the changes.
Councilmember Mazurek inquired about resolution #117.
Manager McPherson said it had to do with fertilizing the fields and nothing to do with grass cutting.

Public Questions on Consent Agenda and/or Regular Agenda Items

Field Maintenance Contract
Mr. Winter asked if a core sample was done.

Deputy Mayor Lare said he would defer that to Zack Zelwak.
Mr. Winters said the bid required a core sample be taken.

 Consent Agenda
Approval of Minutes March 29, 2010
Membership Applic. NJ State Fireman �s Assoc.-Thomas Greenwood, Jeffrey Johnson & Walter

Tracey, Villas Fire Co.
Res.  #2010-111, Payment of Vouchers, $313,619.62
Res.  #2010-112, Resolution Approving Settlement of Tax Appeal Litigation Known As Joanne and

Robert Preston v Township of Lower
Res. #2010-113, Neighborhood Preservation Program Year II Work Program
Res. #2010-114, Authorization for Refund of Taxes (1 refund due to overpayment)
Res. #2010-115, Resolution Requesting Cape May County Investigate the Fishing Creek

Watershed to Determine Its Effect on Local Flooding In Lower Township
Res. #2010-116, Issuance of Ice Cream Peddling Licenses for the Year 2010 to Summer Daze Ice

Cream (Annual Renewal - 2 trucks & 4 salesmen)
Res. #2010-117, Award of Bid and Acceptance of Contract for 2010 Field Maintenance Contract for

the Freeman Douglass Memorial Park (Clarkton, LLC - $12,100)
Res. #2010-118, Renewal of Annual Campground Licenses (6 campgrounds)
Res. #2010-119, Resolution Amending Resolution #2010-07, Annual Appointment of Emergency

Management Council (Updating changes in members)
Res. #2010-120, Resolution Opposing Legislation Amending the Time of Decision Rule
Ord.  #2010-04 Ordinance Amending Chapter Seven Entitled  �Traffic � of the Code of the

Township of Lower, 1st rdg.  (No Parking Rochester Avenue N. Side between
Beach & Atlantic) 2nd rdg. May 3

Ord. #2010-05, An Ordinance Amending Chapter 400 of the Code of the Township of Lower, 1st

rdg. (Changes recommended by Planning Board for Conservation District) 2nd rdg.
May 3

Councilmember Douglass motioned to adopt the consent agenda,  seconded by Councilmember Conrad.  The
consent agenda was adopted by the following roll call vote: Councilmember Conrad,  �yes �, Councilmember
Mazurek,  �yes �, Councilmember Douglass,  �yes �, Deputy Mayor  Lare,  �yes �, Mayor Beck ,  �yes �.



Regular & Work Session Meeting Minutes - April 19, 2010

Page 9

Administrative Reports
Personnel Action Report
January Report - MUA - February Report - Clerk, MUA
March Reports - Animal Control, Clerk , Construction, Court, Dog, Engineer, Fire Bureau, Police, Tax
Collector, Vital Statistics.

Council Comment
Councilmember Conrad said the County failed to notify the Township ahead of time that they were closing Fulling
Mill Road.  He said Little League opened and also thanked Bernie Dera for working with a woman and helped her
get a new home.

Fireworks
Councilmember Douglass said the Township received notification from the DRBA that they would not sponsor the
fireworks.   He said they were trying to see if they could get sponsors for the fireworks.
Manager McPherson said the Chamber of Commerce would email their members to see if anyone was interested. 
She said Zack Zelwak was looking into a lazer light  show.
Councilmember Conrad said Cape May had done a lazer show and it was terrible.
Manager McPherson said if they didn �t have the fireworks was the Township still doing an Independence Festival.
Mayor Beck said they approached the DRBA about the situation and basically they hung the Township out to dry
and added they couldn �t take $50,000.00 out of the budget for it.
Council discussed further the options regarding the fireworks.

Budget
Deputy Mayor Lare said he wanted to clarify one thing regarding the budget.  The proposal he thought they reached
a consensus on was replacing the employee who resigned and the two additional.
Mayor Beck thought they were going with the original proposal which was eliminate the two positions, move the
head of the garage and dovetail over the maintenance department.
A further discussion on the positions and overtime at DPW.
Gary Douglass said when they went to weekly recycling it took six men and if they were going to reduce help they
had to reduce services.
Mayor Beck asked Gary which plan he wanted to go with.
Councilmember Mazurek asked the Manager if she could do a cost saving analysis.
Deputy Mayor Lare said they were all in agreement when the person that just resigned was going to be replaced. 
He mentioned Mr. Carty would retire in August.
Manager McPherson said a laborer would be added.   He said that would leave two positions and his proposal was
to fill them.  He said if those positions weren �t going to be filled to consider a sharper cut in the overtime.
More discussion on the DPW situation.

Townbank Fire Company
Joe Winters asked if Townbank Fire Company was answering calls in Cape May.
Councilmember Conrad said there could be a mutual aid agreement.
Manager McPherson said he had to ask the Fire Company.
Art Treon said he was the former Chief of Townbank Fire Company and said they did have a mutual aid agreement
and Cape May had come and helped out in North Cape May in the past.
Harry McCloy said the service Public Works provided was terrific.
Wayne Weissman of Beechwood Avenue agreed with Gary Douglass and said not to do away with recycling every
week.  He said the word was out that anyone could use the dump and people were coming for Wildwood and Cape



Regular & Work Session Meeting Minutes - April 19, 2010

Page 10

May.

Resolution #2010-121,  A Resolution Providing for a Meeting Not Open to the Pubic in Accordance with the
Provisions of the New Jersey Open Public Meetings Act, N.J.S.A. 10:4-12 
Councilmember Mazurek motioned to adopt the resolution, seconded by Councilmember Conrad.   The resolution
was adopted by the following roll call vote: Councilmember Conrad,  �yes �, Councilmember Mazurek,  �yes �,
Councilmember Douglass,  �yes �, Deputy Mayor Lare,  �yes �, Mayor Beck   �yes �.

Council returned to open session and there being no further comment, Councilmember Conrad  motioned to adjourn
the meeting, seconded by Councilmember Douglass the meeting unanimously adjourned by verbal  �ayes � at 10:28
p.m.

__________________________ __________________________
           Mayor Township Clerk

Approved: May 3, 2010


